I 

I 
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 

I 

Docket No. 17-0907 

JEREMIAH GOODWIN 
Plain tiff Below, Petitioner 

vs. 

CITY OF SHEPHERDSTOWN/ 
SHEPHESTOWN POLICE DEPARTMENT, 

Defendant Below, Respondents. 

BRIEF FOR APPEAL

III. Assignments of Error 

1. The Circuit Court Erred when it held that the Plaintiff cannot meet the "favorable 

termination," standard required for Prosecutorial Misconduct claims because of the 

Court's dismissal "without prejudice" on the underlying criminal case. 

2. The Circuit Court erred when it found that Plaintiff cannot establish that the prosecution 

was without probable cause. 

3. The Circuit Court Erred when it found that prior findings of probable cause - which 

were made based on police misconduct in the form of suppression of exculpatory 

evidence - made it so that Plaintiffs could not establish the "malice," requirement for a 

finding of malicious prosecution. 

4. The Circuit Court erred when it found that Plaintiff cannot establish that the prosecution 

was "caused or procured," by City of Shepherdstown. 
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I 
5. The Circuit Court Erred when it held that the suppression of the alibi statements was not 

I 

"outrageous and intolerable," conduct because an investigating police officer does not 

have a duty or responsibility to provide a criminal defendant with facts or details that he 

discovers in the course of his investigation. 

6. The Circuit Court Erred when it held that Qualified Immunity protects the City of 

Shepherdstown because city of Shepherdstown did not have a constitutional duty or 

legal responsibility to report its investigatory findings. 

7. The Circuit Court Erred when it found that there was no "causal connection" between 

City of Shepherdstown and the Plaintiffs emotional distress. 

IV. Statement of the Case 

1. This case concerns the intentional misconduct and constitutional violations of the 

Shepherd University Police Department in intentionally suppressing an alibi witness who 

had no personal connection to Appellant whatsoever, and in intentionally falsifying 

witness testimony in order to strengthen the case against Appellant Jeremiah Goodwin, 

who was wholly innocent of the charges against him. 

2. On February 1,2015, Jeremiah Goodwin, a decorated U.S. Army combat veteran who 

served multiple tours in Iraq, was visiting a friend who resided in Shepherdstown, WV. 

They went out on Suberbowl Sunday, going to different bars, restaurants, and Super 

Bowl events. At a certain point in the evening, Mr. Goodwin stopped by Shaharazade's, a 

local Mediterranean restaurant and tea room, for their monthly poetry night. He stayed 

and listened to poetry readings from 7:30 p.m. until 8: 15 p.m., and then left. 
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3. During this same time period, between 7:40 and 7:55, a Shepherd University student 
I 

named C.P. was sexually assaulted by an unknown assailant outside of Shaw Hall on the 

Shepherd University Campus. 

4. A recording ofC.P.'s 911 call from the night of the incident described the assailant as 

"between 5' 8 to 5' 10," wearing a black "beanie" and a "black winter coat/jacket", and 

that "he might have had some scruff on his face," although she also stated that she "could 

not see his face." The 911 operator asked if she could tell whether the assailant was 

"white, black, or hispanic," and C.P. replied that "no," she could not. 

5. Mr. Goodwin is 6'3 - nowhere near the height described by the victim, and was not 

wearing a winter coat of any color or a "beanie" hat of any color. 

6. However, the police report filed after Mr. Goodwin's arrest falsely stated that C.P. 

described the assailant as wearing "a black shirt with a hood," and that he was "either 

Hispanic or white." The "black shirt with a hood" description was, suspiciously, an exact 

match to the clothing that Mr. Goodwin was wearing at the time of his arrest. Appellant 

alleges that police intentionally changed "winter coat/jacket" to "black shirt with a hood" 

after Mr. Goodwin's arrest. (Exhibit A). 

7. Mistakes on the part of the police on February 1, 2015, explain their need to justify the 

wrongful arrest and prosecution of Mr. Goodwin with false information per the post-

arrest report, prepared by Officer Winkle of the Shepherd University Police. Dispatch 

received two reports that night concerning the whereabouts of possible suspects. The first 

report clearly described Mr. Goodwin when he approached a girl he did not know on the 

streets of Shepherdstown and asked her for a date. She, having already received an alert 

about c.P.'s assault, called 911 to report Mr. Goodwin's actions. 
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8. The second report, however, described the true assailant, a male in a silver vehicle whose 

physical traits actually matched the description given by C.P. These two reports came in 

at about the same time and the officer (responding to the first call) assumed that the two 

calls were concerning the same person, in spite of the fact that the officer reported that he 

was searching for a male in blue jeans with a "black shirt/black hoodie of some sort, tall 

and in his mid-twenties." That same officer told dispatch to "clear both calls" because 

they were "gonna be one and the same," and completely ignored the second report. 

9. The next day, Shepherdstown and Shepherd University police jointly apprehended Mr. 

Goodwin, and took him to Shepherd University Campus for questioning. He was 

eventually released from questioning, only to later be arrested on charges of sexual 

assault. After apprehending Mr. Goodwin, they took his picture and, despite the fact that 

the victim clearly stated that she could not see the assailant's face, conducted an illegally 

suggestive photo identification in order to identify Mr. Goodwin as the assailant. 

10. The day after Mr. Goodwin's arrest, Lisa Olney, the owner ofShaharazade's Restaurant 

and Tea Room, read an article in the local paper about the arrest, which listed the time 

that the offense was committed. Remembering Mr. Goodwin from Super Bowl Sunday, 

she called the Shepherdstown Police Department and asked them if she could speak to 

someone about the story written in the paper. Two officers showed up at her restaurant, 

one wearing a Shepherdstown Police uniform and the other wearing a Shepherd 

University Police uniform. She told them that the person named and pictured in the paper, 

Mr. Goodwin, was in her restaurant at the time of the crime, and so could not possibly 

have been the culprit. 
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11. The police officers chose at that moment to lie to Ms. Olney, telling her that the paper 

had printed the time of the crime incorrectly. In fact, that paper had not printed the time 

incorrectly, and the police report makes clear that the crime was committed at exactly the 

time the article suggested. After the police left Shaharazade's, no report of any sort was 

filed by either Shepherd University or the Shepherdstown Police Department. 

12. At no point was Appellant ever informed by any state actor of the existence of 

Appellant's Alibi. It wasn't until undersigned counsel was appointed to the case - over a 

year after the initial arrest - and conducted his investigation that the existence of 

Appellant's alibi witness was discovered by undersigned counsel. 

13. From the moment ofMr. Goodwin's arrest it was clear that he could not possibly have 

been the assailant. However, instead of accepting their error in arresting the wrong 

individual, law enforcement and the Jefferson County Office of the Prosecutor spent an 

entire year attempting to force a prosecution upon Mr. Goodwin. The case was so dismal 

that the Grand Jury failed to return an indictment against him through multiple terms of 

court, and Mr. Goodwin was not indicted until almost a full year after arrest had been 

made. Thus, Mr. Goodwin was forced to spend over one year living under the dark cloud 

of a sexual assault charge, of which he was wholly innocent, before the State, upon 

finally realizing that no plea deal would be accepted, voluntarily dismissed the charges on 

the pretext of lost evidence. 

14. The dismissal occurred in May of2016, and no further charges have brought against Mr. 

Goodwin in relation to these allegations since that time. There is nothing which suggests 

that the State ever intends to re-charge Appellant on these allegations. 
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15. On September, 8,2017, claims against City of Shepherdstown werp erroneously 

dismissed by the Jefferson County Circuit Court, causing the instant appeal to be filed. 

a. In Dismissing the case, the Circuit Court held that Appellant failed to meet any of 

the elements necessary for a malicious prosecution. Specifically, the Court made 

the following findings of fact and conclusions of law as to each of the four 

elements. 

b. The Circuit Court held, at point 20, that because of the dismissal without 

prejudice, "The matter was not, therefore "terminated favorably to Appellant," 

and the Appellant cannot, under the allegations or "any set of facts that could be 

proved consistent with those allegations" establish the first element of Malicious 

Prosecution. " 

c. The Circuit Court further held, at point 21, that because the City of 

Shepherdstown's involvement was limited to its joint interview of the Witness 

Olney, Appellant cannot establish that the prosecution was "caused or procured" 

by the Town. 

d. At point 22, the Court held that Appellant could not establish the "without 

probable cause," prong of a malicious prosecution claim because three findings of 

probable cause were made in the case. 

e. Similarly, at point 23, the Circuit Court held that because three separate findings 

of probable cause were found, the Appellant cannot prove malice. 

16. The Circuit Court further held, at point 26, that Appellants claims for intentional 

infliction of emotional distress failed because the City's actions were not "outrageous and 

intolerable,' As an investigating police officer does not have a duty or responsibility to 
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provide a criminal defendant with facts or details that he discovers in the course of his 
I 

investigation. Rather, if any duty to disclose such information exists, it is placed upon the 

acting prosecuting attorney. 

17. The Court further held, at point 27, that Appellant cannot establish a '''causal connection 

between' the Town's alleged suppression of the statements of Ms. Olney and 'the 

emotional distress allegedly suffered by the Appellant." 

18. The Court further held, at point 29, that the City "did not have a constitutional duty or 

legal responsibility to provide the Appellant with the details of its officer's interview of 

Ms. Olney. As such, the doctrine of qualified immunity protects the Town from the 

Appellants claims that a police officer suppressed the alibi statement of Ms. Olney." 

v. Summary of Argument 

Regarding Appellants malicious prosecution claim, the Circuit Court erred when it found 

that Appellant's claim for malicious prosecution fails to meet the "favorable termination," 

standard because the facts unequivocally demonstrate that the prosecution terminated favorably 

for Appellant, as demonstrated by numerous Federal and out-of-state decisions. The Circuit 

Court further erred in finding that Appellant couldn't meet the procurement element of malicious 

prosecution because the police officers falsification of evidence in the form of material 

omissions, alibi suppression and witness tampering constitutes procurement under the law. The 

Circuit Court further erred when it found that Appellant could not establish the "without 

probable cause," element because all probable cause findings are rebutted by the police 

misconduct of the officers in the case. The Circuit Court further erred when it found that 

Appellant could not meet the malice requirement because police intentionally acted to suppress 
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exculpatory evidence, in violation of Appellants constitutional rights, in order to better ensure 

Appellants conviction. 

Regarding Appellant's intentional infliction of emotion distress claim, the Circuit Court 

erred when it found that suppression of an alibi witness was not "outrageous and intolerable" 

conduct because, contrary the Court's opinion, an investigating officer does have a constitutional 

duty to disclose material evidence, and the intentional failure to do so constitutes outrageous 

conduct. The Circuit Court further erred when it extended its argument that police owe no duty 

of disclosure to claim that they therefore had not committed an intentional act and thereby were 

protected by the doctrine of qualified immunity because, again, there is a constitutional duty, that 

all police officers are aware of, to report evidence to the prosecution, who then must turn it over 

to a defendant, particularly when said evidence is exculpatory. Finally, the Circuit Court further 

erred when it claimed that there was no causal connection between the City of Shepherdstown's 

conduct and the emotional distress because the City'S conduct kept the prosecution ofMr. 

Goodwin ongoing for an additional year, causing him to spend six months in jail and live under 

the threat of prosecution for the entire time frame. 

VI. Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision 

Appellant avers that Oral argument is necessary in this case. This case presents an issue 

oflaw which the West Virginia Supreme Court has not yet ruled on, and which the Court should 

elucidate a position for future malicious prosecution cases. Moreover, the Circuit Court did not 

hold even a single hearing in the matter before dismissing Appellants claims against the City, so 

there is no transcript from which the Court might draw insight into the parties factual allegations 
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and legal arguments. Further, the appeal is not frivolous and parties have 90t waived oral 

argument. 

Appellant avers that this matter should be set for a Rule 20 argument because it involves 

an issue of first impression in the state of West Virginia, to wit, what constitutes "favorable 

termination," for a malicious prosecution claim, and it involves issues of fundamental public 

importance, to wit, a citizens remedy for the intentional violation by state actors of his 

Constitutional rights. 

VII. Argument 

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD THAT THE APPELLANT 

CANNOT MEET THE "FAVORABLE TERMINATION," STANDARD BECAUSE 

THE FACTS UNEQUIVOCALL Y DEMONSTRATE THAT THE PROSECUTION 

AGAINST THE APPELLANT HAS TERMINATED FAVORABLY. 

In its motion to dismiss, Defendant's claimed that the motion to dismiss could not 

constitute favorable termination because the State could have re-prosecuted Appellant again had 

it wished to. The Court ultimately upheld this reasoning, citing to the Heck decision as 

referenced above. 

While there exists no precedent in West Virginia as to what constitutes "favorable 

termination," for a malicious prosecution claim, the Fourth Circuit has held unequivocally that a 

nolle prosequi and corresponding dismissal amounts to favorable termination for the purposes of 

a malicious prosecution. 

In Owens v. BaIt. City State's Attorneys Office, 767 F.3d 379 (4th Cir., 2014), Appellant 

filed suit under 42 U.S.C. 1983, alleging that defendants violated his constitutional rights by 

intentionally withholding exculpatory evidence during his 1988 trial for rape and murder. The 
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district court dismissed the complaint on statute-of-limitations grounds, but the court concluded 

that Appellant filed suit within the applicable three year statute of limitations for a personal

injury action under Maryland law and his claims were timely; vacated in all other respects; and 

remanded for further proceedings. precedent unmistakably provided that, by 1988, a police 

officer violates clearly established constitutional law when he suppresses material exculpatory 

evidence in bad faith; 

In Owens, the district Court dismissed the case because Appellant had failed to file suit 

within three years after the Court vacated his criminal conviction and granted him a new trial. 

Appellant claimed that the statute of limitations did not begin to run until prosecutors filed a 

nolle prosequi, which resolved the proceedings against him. The 4th Circuit agreed, saying, "The 

operative limitations period began to run on the date a malicious prosecution claim became ripe 

at common law, i.e., the date on which the nolle prosequi was entered. It was only on this date 

that the proceedings against Owens were favorably terminated." !d., 767 F.3d at 39l. 

The Owens Court's language regarding nolle prosequi matches up exactly with the facts 

in this case. In the case at bar, the Circuit Court's Order of Dismissal came following the State's 

own motion for Nolle Prosequi, which functioned similarly to end the prosecution against the 

Defendant, while still technically allowing the state to re-raise charges should they so desire. 

The Circuit Court ruling invokes Heck v. Humphreys, 512 U.S. 477 (1994), but fails to 

properly consider the holding in Heck and its relevance to the case at bar. In Heck, the Petitioner 

was in the midst of appealing an Indiana criminal conviction at the time he filed a § 1983 claim 

seeking damages for malicious prosecution. The Court dismissed his suit on the basis that "In 

order to recover damages for allegedly unconstitutional conviction or imprisonment. .. a § 1983 

Appellant must prove that the conviction or sentence has been reversed on direct appeal, 
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expunged by executive order, declared invalid by a state tribunal. .. or callfd into question by a 

federal court's issuance of a writ of habeas corpus." Ibid. (Emphasis added). Thus, Heck 

involved an Appellant who was attempting to file a § 1983 action after being convicted of the 

crimes charged. The Court allowed for the possibility that an overturned conviction such as a 

writ of habeas corpus could constitute favorable termination for the Appellant, and it was on this 

basis that the Court invoked the requirement "that the tort of malicious prosecution, which 

provides the closest analogy to claims of the type considered here, requires the allegation and 

proof of termination of the prior criminal proceeding in favor of the accused." Ibid. Later, the 

Court again turned to the termination requirement, noting that "This requirement 'avoids parallel 

litigation over issues of probable cause and guilt ... and it precludes the possibility of the 

claimant succeeding in the tort action after having been convicted in the underlying criminal 

prosecution." Ibid. Thus, the rationale for the favorable termination requirement is to avoid 

allowing a convicted Defendant to then sue on the basis that the prosecution was malicious and 

without probable cause. In the case at bar, we are not dealing with a conviction at all. We are 

dealing with a case that was dismissed over 19 months ago and for which charges have never 

again been refilled. 

Ultimately, the Court's language in Heck speaks in favor of Appellants position, rather 

than against it, as Appellee and the Circuit Court contended. The Court in Heck expressly held 

that, "In order to recover damages for allegedly unconstitional conviction or imprisonment, or 

for other harm caused by actions whose unlawfulness would render a conviction or sentence 

invalid, a 1983 Appellant must prove that the conviction or sentence has been reversed on direct 

appeal, expunged by executive order, declared invalid by a state tribunal. .. or called into 

question by a federal court's issuance of a writ of habeas corpus." (Emphasis added). When a 
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conviction is reversed, or when a writ of habeas corpus is issued, such a writ functions to simply 

invalidate the previous conviction, rather than as an outright acquittal. The state, therefore, is 

entitled to retry the Defendant, should they so choose. So, neither one of those outcomes 

necessarily require that all charges be dismissed with prejudice. Thus, if a writ of habeas corpus 

can be called a favorable termination, then so must a voluntary dismissal by the State also be 

considered favorable termination. 

Additionally, other states have also delineated tests to determine whether a prosecution 

has "terminated favorably" for malicious prosecution purposes. In its motion to dismiss before 

the Circuit Court, Appellant cited aNew York case, D'Amico v. Carr. Med. Care, Inc., 991 

N.Y.S.2d 687, 693-94, for the proposition that "any disposition of the criminal action that does 

not terminate it, but permits it to be renewed, cannot serve as a foundation for a malicious 

prosecution action." However, Appellee cut off the holding prematurely. The very next sentence, 

omitted by the Defendant, reads, "A dismissal without prejudice qualifies as a final, favorable 

termination if the dismissal represents the formal abandonment of the proceedings by the 

prosecutor." Ibid. (emphasis added). So the only relevant question, pursuant to D 'amico, is 

whether, given the circumstances, a final abandonment of the proceedings has occurred. The 

criminal case can be said to have terminated favorably for the Appellant because the May 16, 

2016 dismissal did in fact represent the formal abandonment of the proceedings by the 

prosecutor. It has now been 17 months since charges against Mr. Goodwin were dismissed, and

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