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

her attacker and Petitioner's physical appearance. Nonetheless, a magistrate still found probable 

cause to hold over Petitioner's charges for trial. 

Lastly, Petitioner's argument that his indictment was based on fraud is entirely without 

merit. Petitioner cites to Jarvis v. W. Virginia State Police, 227 W. Va. 472, 480, 711 S.E.2d 

542, 550 (2010), as support for his argument that the finding of probable cause in Petitioner's 

grand jury indictment was destroyed because the police committed misconduct. First, Jarvis 

does not support such an argument, as the court in Jarvis held that "in a claim for retaliatOlY 

prosecution in which a plaintiff alleges that he or she was criminally prosecuted in retaliation for 

exercising a right protected by the state or federal constitution, a grand jury indictment is prima 

facie evidence of probable cause for the underlying criminal prosecution, and a plaintiff may 

rebut this evidence by showing that the indictment was procured by fraud, perjury, or falsified 

evidence." ld. at 481, 711 S.E.2d at 551. Jarvis clearly only applies to claims of retaliatory 

prosecution, making it inapplicable here. 

Second, given that the prosecution in the Petitioner's underlying criminal case was not 

legally required to present any exculpatory evidence to the grand jury, Petitioner's argument that 
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the grand jury indictment was procured by "fraud, perjury, or falsified evidence" is without 

merit. Pet'r's Br. 16. "Courts have generally held that a putative defendant and his counsel 

have no constitutional right to be present at and participate in grand jury proceedings." Syl. Pt. 

5. Slale v. Miller (Miller I). 175 W. Va. 616. 336 S.E.2d 910 (1985). "The traditional function of 

a grand jury is to determine whether there is sufficient probable cause to require a defendant to 

stand triaL rather than to engage in an analvsis of the truth of the charges." Slale v. Messer. 223 
~ ~ J ~ . 

\\1. Va. 197, 205. 672 S.E.2d 333, 341 (2008). ·'The United States Supreme Court has declined 

to impose a duty upon prosecutors to disclose exculpatory evidence ... tinding that a rule 

requiring prosecutors to represent exculpatory evidence in addition to incriminating evidence 

would 'alter the grand jury's historical role. transforming it from an accusatory to an 

adjudicatory body.'" !d (citing Us. v. IVillimns. 504 U.S. 36. 51. 112 S.Ct. 1735, 1735. 118 

L.Ed.2d 352 (1992)). This Court has also previollsly found no merit to a defendant's contentions 

that exculpatory evidence was improperly omitted from grand jury proceedings. Slare v. A1iller, 

197. W. Va. 588, 596 n.5. 476 S.E.2d 535. 543 n.5 (1996) (citing rVilliams. 504 U.S. at 51. 112 

S.Ct. at 1735. 118 L.Ed.2d 352)). Additionally. "an indictment will not be dismissed merely 

'because some illegal evidence \vas also received. ". Miller I. 197 W. Va. at 596 n.5. 476 S.E.2d 

at 543 n.5. Furthermore, the presence of an alibi witness does not conclusively prove as a matter 

of law that a defendant did not commit a crime or that there was a lack of probable cause for 

defendant's arrest. See Stale v. Withrow, 142 W. Va. 522,96 S.E.2d 913 (1957) (recognizing 

that when defendant presents alibi defense, the question of whether he was present at the 

commission of the crime \vas for the jury). Therefore, even if the Town had made Petitioner 

aware of the alibi witness, this evidence was not required to be presented to the grand jury, and 

there was no guarantee that the prosecuting attorney would have moved to dismiss the charges 
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against the Petitioner, as the presence of an alibi witness is only one factor for a jury to consider 

when determining whether a criminal defendant is present at the scene of a crime. Thus, 

Petitioner's claim that his indictment was procured based on fraud is without merit. 

Given that there were three separate findings of probable cause, at least one of which was 

made before any alleged police misconduct occurred, the Petitioner cannot prove that his 

prosecution was without probable cause, and Petitioner's claim of malicious prosecution against 

the Town was properly dismissed by the Circuit Court. 

3. The Circuit Court Correctly Held that Petitioner Cannot Establish the 
Element of Malice Because His Case Was Prosecuted on Three Findings of 
Probable Cause. 

Petitioner cannot prove any set of facts to support his assertion that his case was 

prosecuted with malice. Under West Virginia law, in order to prove "malice" in a malicious 

prosecution cause of action, a Plaintiff must allege that the prosecution "was instituted for some 

unlawful and improper purpose, and not for the purpose of punishing him for a crime." Lyons v. 

Davy-Pocahontas Coal Co., 75 W. Va. 739, 84 S.E. 744, 745 (1915). In a cause of action for 

malicious prosecution, "[i]f there was probable cause, the existence of express malice is 

immaterial." Bailey v. Gollehon, 76 W. Va. 322, 85 S.E. 556, 559 (1915). As this Court has 

recognized, "there is a presumption that every prosecution for a crime is founded upon probable 

cause and is instituted for the purpose of justice." Pote v. Jarrell, 186 W. Va. 369, 373,412 

S.E.2d 770, 774 (1991). Thus, if a prosecution is based on a finding of probable cause, it is not 

malicious. 

Relying on Bailey, 76 W. Va. 332, 85 S.E. 556, the Circuit Court held that "[b]ecause the 

Plaintiffs prosecution was founded on three separate findings of probable cause, the Plaintiff 

also cannot establish the fourth essential element of Malicious Prosecution, that his prosecution 
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was malicious." App. 98, ~ 23. Petitioner argues that "It is a well-established legal precedent in 

the state of West Virginia that police misconduct can rebut the presumption of probable cause in 

prosecution, as happened in this case." Perr's Am. Assignment of Error ~ 3(a). However, as 

previously discussed in Section VI.B.2, supra, Petitioner's argument is without merit in this case. 

Probable cause for Petitioner's arrest and prosecution had already been established prior to any 

alleged police misconduct when the warrant for his arrest was issued by a neutral magistrate 

upon a finding of probable cause. Furthermore, Petitioner would have had the opportunity to 

point out any discrepancies in the victim's description of her attacker in Petitioner's preliminary 

hearing, as well as introduce any alibi evidence. Lastly, the prosecuting attorney was not 

obligated to present any exculpatory evidence to the grand jury regarding Petitioner's alibi, and 

the presence of an alibi witness would not have required the automatic dismissal of Petitioner's 

criminal charges. Therefore, for the reasons described in Section VI.B.2, supra, the Circuit 

Court correctly held Petitioner could not establish that his prosecution was malicious. 

4. The Circuit Court Correctlv Held that Petitioner Cannot Establish that the 
Town Caused or Procured Petitioner's Prosecution. 

In order to state a cause of action for malicious prosecution, the Petitioner must prove 

facts showing that his prosecution was "caused or procured by the defendant." Under West 

Virginia law, "procurement within the meaning of a malicious prosecution suit requires more 

than just the submission of a case to a prosecutor; it requires that a defendant assert control over 

the pursuit of the prosecution." NOl:folk, 228 W. Va. at 528,721 S.E.2d at 547: see also Truman, 

146 W. Va. at 728, 123 S .E.2d at 72 (1961) (holding that \\;hen defendant only investigated and 

submitted evidence of plaintiffs insurance fraud to a prosecutor, "there is nothing to indicate 

that any steps toward prosecution whatsoever were actually taken by the defendant's agents or 

employees after the evidence in their hands was left with the prosecuting attorney."). 
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The Circuit Court found that the Town's involvement in the arrest, investigation, and 

prosecution of the Plaintiff allegedly was limited to its joint interview of Ms. Olney with an 

officer from the University. App. 94, ~ 7. While Petitioner's Complaint does not distinguish 

between the actions of the Town's police and the University's police, there is certainly nothing 

alleged in the Complaint that rises to the level of "procurement" within the meaning of malicious 

prosecution. In fact Petitioner's own allegations acknowledge that the Jefferson County Office 

of the Prosecutor, as opposed to the Town, was the body that prosecuted this case, and that the 

Town's role was limited to submitting the case to the prosecutor. For example, Petitioner has 

alleged in the Complaint that "the state, after being informed of the existence of Plaintiffs [sic] 

alibi witness, continued to prosecute Plaintiff without any probable cause to believe he had 

committed the crime." App. 9, ~ 27 (emphasis added). Furthermore, the Petitioner states, "[t]he 

prosecution terminated favorably for Plaintiff when the Je.fferson County Office of the 

Prosecutor dismissed all charged in May of 2016." Id. at ~ 29 (emphasis added). Thus, 

Petitioner's Complaint acknowledges that the Jefferson County Office of the Prosecutor had 

control over the pursuit of his prosecution, and that Town, at best merely submitted the case to 

the prosecutor. 

Furthermore, Petitioner's argument that the prosecutors were "tricked" by the Town's 

officers8 into prosecuting the Plaintiff by failing to disclose the alleged statements of Ms. Olney 

is without merit for two reasons. First Petitioner makes clear in his Complaint that the Jefferson 

8 It is presumed that Petitioner's assertion in his brief that "After speaking to Ms. Olney, officers 
of Shepherd University had an ongoing duty to disclose the clearly exculpatory statements to the 
prosecution ... " is merely a typographical error and should state "Shepherdstown officers." Pet'r's Br. 
14. Any conduct on the part of University police officers is not at issue in this AppeaL and the University 
only paliicipates in the appeal to the extent that there are common issues of law between the causes of 
action asserted against the Town and the University. For the same reason, it is presumed that Petitioner's 
asseliion that "[t]his case concerns the intentional misconduct and constitutional violation of the Shepherd 
University Police Department in intentionally suppressing an alibi witness ... " is also a misstatement. 
Pet'r's Br. 2. 
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County Office of the Prosecutor had the information about the Petitioner's alleged alibi and 

decided to prosecute the Plaintiff anyway: "The state, after being informed of the existence of 

Plaintiffs [sic] alibi witness, continued to prosecute Plaintiff without any probable cause to 

believe he had committed the crime." App. 9, ~ 27 (emphasis added). Only after realizing this 

deficiency in his cause of action has Petitioner attempted to assert that the Prosecution was never 

made aware of this alibi witness statement and that if it had been made aware of this statement, it 

would not have prosecuted the case. This assertion clearly contradicts the Petitioner's own 

allegations in his Complaint. 

Second, Petitioner cannot prove as a matter of law that the prosecution had no knowledge 

of any alleged evidence known to Town police, as "[a] police investigator's knowledge of 

evidence in a criminal case is imputed to the prosecutor. Therefore. a prosecutor's disclosure 

duty under Brac(v v. Mmyland. 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.D. 1194. 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963) and Slate v. 

Hatfield. 169 \V.Va. 191. 286 S.E.:2d 402 (198:2) includes disclosure of evidence that is known 

only to a police investigator and not to the prosecutor." Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Youngblood, 221 W. 

Va. 20, 650 S.E.2d 119 (2007) (emphasis added). Therefore, according to West Virginia law as 

established in Youngblood, an investigating police officer's knowledge of evidence, which is 

known only to the officer, is imputed to the prosecutor, Id. at 27, 650 S.E.2d at 126; see also 

Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 437,115 S.Ct. 1555, 1567, 131 L.Ed.2d 490 (1995) ("[T]he 

individual prosecutor has a duty to learn of any favorable evidence known to the others acting on 

the government's behalf in the case, including the police.") (emphasis added). Petitioner cannot 

prove as a matter of law that any evidence allegedly gained by Town officers was not known to 

the prosecutor for the purposes of a malicious prosecution. 
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Third, Petitioner's reliance on the Texas Supreme Court's holding in Browning-Ferris 

Industries. Inc. v. Lieck, 881 S.W.2d 288, 292 (Tex. 1994) is misplaced. In Lieck, the Texas 

Supreme Court held that "there is no procurement when the decision whether to prosecute is left 

to the discretion of another person, a law enforcement officer or the grand jury. An exception ... 

occurs when a person provides information which he knows is false to another to cause a 

criminal prosecution." (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). However, the court in 

Lieck also recognized that failing to make "full and fair disclosure to investigating officers ... 

[was] not the equivalent of a finding that [the defendant] made statements he knew were false." 

ld. at 294. 

In Lieck, the Plaintiff, a city manager, was prosecuted for allegedly disclosing 

confidential contract information during the waste management bidding and negotiation process. 

Id. at 289-90. The charges stemmed from the accusations of the Defendant an employee of 

Browning-Ferris, Industries, Inc. ("BFI") that the proposed contract submitted by BFI was 

illegally disclosed to Garbage Management Services ("GMS"), a company that was also engaged 

in the bidding and negotiation process. ld. "The Defendant, by his own admission at triaL never 

told officials that the terms of BFI's contract had been made public during the City Commission's 

consideration of the bids, even though he knew that was true, nor did he tell officials that he 

believed Lieck had not committed a crime, even though that was his belief." Id. at 290. Even 

though it noted that law enforcement officials "might way have considered [these admissions] 

important in deciding whether to prosecute Lieck[,J" the Texas Supreme Court held that such 

statements were a failure to make a full and fair disclosure to investigating officers and were not 

the equivalent false statements so as to support a claim of malicious prosecution. Id. at 290-94. 

Thus, under the court's analysis in Lieck, whose holding and analysis Petitioner asks this Court 
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to adopt, any alleged suppression of Ms. Onley's statements is not equivalent to providing "false 

information" to the Prosecutor for the purposes of a claim of malicious prosecution. 

Additionally, Petitioner alleges in his Complaint and that "[t]he slate, after being 

informed of the existence of Plaintiffs [sic] alibi witness, continued to prosecute Plaintiff without 

any probable cause to believe he had committed the crime." App. 9-10, ~ 28 (emphasis added). 

Therefore, the Petitioner admits that the prosecutor continued to prosecute his case even after 

being informed of his alleged "alibi witness." Clearly, the Jefferson County Office of the 

Prosecutor did not find this information to be material to their decision to prosecute if it 

continued to prosecute Petitioner after becoming aware of Petitioner's alleged "airtight alibi." 

Furthermore, there is absolutely no indication in the Order Dismissing Indictment that the 

determination to dismiss was based on the existence of any alleged "alibi witness." Therefore, 

Petitioner cannot prove any set of facts to show that the decision to prosecute was based on the 

existence of the alleged "alibi witness," other than a self-serving statement that Petitioner has 

made for the first time on appeal and which directly contradicts the Order Dismissing 

Indictment.9 Because Petitioner cannot prove any set of facts to show that the Town procured 

his prosecution, Petitioner's claim of malicious prosecution must be dismissed. 

C. Petitioner Cannot State a Claim for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress 
Because the Conduct of the Town's Officers Did Not Rise to Outrageous and 
Intolerable Conduct. 1o 

9 Petitioner's self-serving statement that "[a]lthough the state claimed other reasons for the nolle 
prosequi, it was clear from defense counsel's interactions with the assistant prosecutor assigned to the 
case that the alibi fundamentally changed the balance of evidence in the case," was not pleaded in 
Petitioner's Complaint and directly contradicts and misrepresents the information contained in the Order 
Dismissing Indictment. Peb's Br. 20. 

10 Plaintiff groups his arguments regarding the remal11l11g three points of error, including 
Petitioner's Amended Assignments of Error 5, 6, and 7, in three paragraphs under one heading, making it 
nearly impossible to parse out Petitioner's respective arguments as to these three points of etTOr. In order 
to prevent a finding that the University has waived argument as to any of Petitioner's Amended Points of 
Error, the University relies on Petitioner's stated Amended Points of Error to provide a response. 
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Under West Virginia law, in order to establish a claim for Intentional Infliction of

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